045 w/app

SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA

1991 CLERK, SUPRAME COURT By-Chief Deputy Clerk

Case No.:

CASA CLARA CONDOMINIUM ASSOCIATION, INC., a not for profit corporation of the State of Florida, and 642053 ONTARIO, INC., a Florida corporation,

Petitioners,

vs.

CHARLEY TOPPINO AND SONS, INC., a dissolved Florida corporation, and JAN GRIFFEN and JOHN NIVENS, as Trustees for Charley Toppino and Sons, Inc., a dissolved Florida corporation,

Respondents.

PETITIONERS' BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

SIEGFRIED, KIPNIS, RIVERA, LERNER, DE LA TORRE & MOCARSKI, P.A. Attorneys for Respondents 201 Alhambra Circle, Suite 1102 Coral Gables, Florida 33134 Telephone: (305) 442-3334

and

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

12

Petitioners are owners of homes, which are being progressively destroyed by defective concrete manufactured and supplied by the respondent, Toppino.¹ The destruction is characterized by cracking and spalling, with sizable pieces of concrete and rusted steel falling from the columns, beams and undersides of slabs and balconies. The petitioners and their families are endangered both by these falling pieces and the possibility of a wholesale structural collapse.

Petitioners brought their separate damage actions against Toppino in Circuit Court in Monroe County, pleading, <u>inter alia</u>, negligence and strict liability.² The trial court dismissed those counts, ruling that destruction of the building was not damage to property other than the concrete itself and that neither the destruction nor the hazardous condition it creates constitute damages recoverable in tort. App. 038-045.³

¹ Petitioners, 642053 Ontario, Inc. and Casa Clara Condominium Association, Inc., will be referred to generically herein as "petitioners", although separate reference to their cases will be to "<u>Ontario</u>" and "<u>Casa</u> <u>Clara</u>", respectively. Respondent, Charley Toppino and Sons, Inc., will be referred to as "Toppino".

These petitioners are not alone. We have this date filed a separate petition on behalf of five other homeowners, whose homes are similarly being destroyed and whose claims nevertheless met the same fate at the hands of the Monroe County Circuit Court and the Third District Court of Appeal. <u>See Christopher H. Chapin, etc. et al. v. Charley Toppino and Sons, Inc.</u>, Supreme Court of Florida, Case No. _____. We have also moved to consolidate the present petition with the petition filed in <u>Chapin</u>.

² As alleged, Toppino's concrete was defective because it contained high quantities of chlorides, which caused the steel reinforcing bars in the building to rust, resulting in progressive destruction of the buildings. Because the appeal arose from orders dismissing the complaints, all allegations are taken as true. <u>Connolly v. Sebeco, Inc.</u>, 89 So.2d 482 (Fla. 1956). The pleadings dismissed are the Amended Complaint in <u>Casa</u> <u>Clara</u> and the Second Amended Complaint in <u>Ontario</u> (the "complaints"). Those pleadings, with unnecessary exhibits omitted, are appended hereto at App. 008-024 and App. 025-037.

We use "App. ____" followed by a number to indicate a page number of the Appendix to Petitioners Brief on Jurisdiction. Page numbers of the Appendix are Bates-stamped in the lower right corner "001", "002", etc.

³ The petitioners were not in privity with Toppino. In <u>Casa Clara</u> the petitioners purchased condominium units from a condominium developer; in <u>Ontario</u> petitioner contracted with a general contractor, who in turn purchased the concrete from Toppino. Petitioners also sued Toppino for breach of implied warranty and for violation of the Florida Building Codes Act, Section 553.70, et seq., Florida (continued...)

On consolidated appeal to the District Court of Appeal for the Third District, petitioners argued that tort law applies, because the concrete is "a product in a defective condition unreasonably dangerous to the user or consumer or to his property,"⁴ and the damage to their homes and other products incorporated into their homes during construction constitutes damage to property other than the concrete itself. They argued that the destruction of their homes and the persistent risk of injury from falling concrete or even structural collapse bring their claims within the safetyrelated sphere of tort law and outside the scope of the economic loss rule.

The district court, however, rejected petitioners' argument, opining that:

[petitioners'] structures, the homes and buildings, not the concrete, are the "property" for purposes of applying the economic loss doctrine. Since the homeowners only allege damage to the structures and the components thereof and do not allege any personal injury or damage to other property ... they cannot maintain a cause of action against Toppino in tort.

Slip opinion, App. 005-006. In so ruling, the district court created the fiction that the concrete was not a "product" capable of damaging petitioners' homes, and that the petitioners' real property, in effect, became a product. <u>Gable v. Silver</u>, 258 So.2d 11 (Fla. 4th DCA), <u>cert. discharged</u>, 264 So.2d 418 (1972).

The district court also rejected <u>sub silentio</u> the petitioners' alternative argument that, assuming they have no contract or

³(...continued)

Statutes. In each case the trial court dismissed the counts based upon those theories as well, although the present petition is not grounded upon any conflict involving those counts.

Restatement (Second) of Torts § 402 A.

statutory remedy against Toppino for the defective concrete,⁵ Florida law must provide them a remedy in tort. <u>A.R. Moyer, Inc. v.</u> <u>Graham</u>, 285 So.2d 397 (Fla. 1973).

τ,

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Purchasing a home in the Third District of Florida carries substantially greater risks, both personal and financial, than it does in the Fourth District. Under the decision from which we seek review, the disintegration of the petitioners' homes caused by defective concrete is not deemed to be "property damage" such as to allow the petitioners to recover in tort. Likewise, the decision does not deem the hazard created by pieces of concrete and steel literally falling from the building as an "unreasonably dangerous" condition, cognizable in tort.

By contrast, in the Fourth District a defective product which causes a building to deteriorate triggers strict liability under Section 402 A of the Restatement (Second) of Torts, <u>Adobe Building</u> <u>Centers, Inc. v. Reynolds</u>, 403 So.2d 1033 (Fla. 4th DCA), <u>rev.</u> <u>dismissed</u>, 411 So.2d 380 (1981), and a construction defect which threatens personal injury if not corrected supports recovery in negligence. <u>Drexel Properties, Inc. v. Bay Colony Club Condominium</u>, <u>Inc.</u>, 406 So.2d 515 (Fla. 4th DCA 1981), <u>rev. denied</u>, 417 So.2d 328 (1982).

Not only does the Third District's decision flatly contradict Adobe Building Centers, Inc. v. Reynolds and Drexel Properties, Inc. v. Bay Colony Club Condominium, Inc., it also directly conflicts with this Court's decision in <u>A.R. Moyer, Inc. v. Graham</u>,

⁵ Lack of another remedy against Toppino was effectively confirmed by the trial court's having dismissed the petitioners' other counts for breach of warranty and for violation of the Florida Building Codes Act.



285 So.2d 397 (Fla. 1973), and the Fourth District's in <u>Latite</u> <u>Roofing Co., Inc. v. Urbanek</u>, 528 So.2d 1381 (Fla. 4th DCA 1988), which hold that the economic loss rule does not bar recovery where a claimant has no alternative remedy against the wrongdoer.

 \mathfrak{A}

The effect of the present decision is to allow a person's home to be destroyed by a defective product with no remedy against the wrongdoer. But homeowners occupy a special place in Florida law. The economic loss rule could not possibly be intended to prevent them from recovering when their most important investment is destroyed by faulty materials. Nor could it be that the law would force them to live at constant risk of personal harm, simply because a legal technicality bars them from recovering enough to correct a hazard before injury.

The different results between the present Third District case on one hand and those of this Court and the Fourth District on the other are "wholly irreconcilable," <u>Williams v. Duggan</u>, 153 So.2d 726, 727 (Fla. 1963), creating the conflict necessary for the petitioners to invoke the discretionary jurisdiction of this Court. Art. V, § 3(b)(3), Fla. Const.; Fla. R. App. P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv).

ARGUMENT

I. THE DECISION CONFLICTS WITH <u>ADOBE BUILDING CENTERS,</u> <u>INC. V. REYNOLDS</u> IN THAT IT FAILS TO ALLOW TORT RECOVERY FOR DAMAGE TO PROPERTY.

By holding that a building product cannot cause damage cognizable in tort to the real property into which it is incorporated, the present decision directly and expressly conflicts with <u>Adobe Building Centers, Inc. v. Reynolds</u>, 403 So.2d 1033 ("<u>Adobe</u>"). <u>Adobe</u> holds that a building product (stucco) that causes walls to deteriorate results in damage to property other than the product itself, for which there can be recovery in strict tort liability under Restatement (Second) of Torts § 402 A.⁶ Adobe has never been overruled or criticized by this Court.

R

We do not here quarrel with the rule that one may not recover in tort "where a product injures only itself." Florida Power & Light Co. v. Westinghouse Electric Corp., 510 So.2d 899, 901 (Fla. 1987). However, by refusing to recognize that Toppino's concrete could damage petitioners' homes, the district court ruled in effect real property a product, which that the petitioners' is axiomatically cannot be. Florida law distinguishes between real property and goods used to improve it. See Gable v. Silver, 258 So.2d 11 (goods affixed to real property becomes realty, not vice versa); Edward M. Chadbourne, Inc. v. Vaughn, 491 So.2d 551, 553 n.l (Fla. 1986) (improvement to realty not a product for strict liability purposes, but strict liability possible where defective product damages realty); and cf. Conklin v. Hurley, 428 So.2d 654 (Fla. 1983) (collapse of improvement to realty may be the basis for tort liability of contractor, notwithstanding the only property damage is the collapse of the improvement itself).

The district court expressly rejected <u>Adobe</u> as inapplicable on the basis of <u>Florida Power & Light Co. v.</u> Westinghouse Electric <u>Corp.</u> ("<u>FPL</u>"). <u>See</u> slip opinion at footnote 2, App. 006. But <u>FPL</u> could only control if it was intended to reach beyond the commercial setting of contracts for the sale of goods and into the realm of individual homeownership, not, as was the case in <u>FPL</u>, the sale of goods between two large commercial entities in privity.

⁶ The recognition that property damage had occurred satisfied a necessary element of Restatement (Second) of Torts § 402 A and thus took the claim in <u>Adobe</u> outside the reach of the economic loss rule. Section 402 A was adopted as the law of Florida in <u>West v. Caterpillar Tractor Company, Inc.</u>, 336 So.2d 80 (Fla. 1976). Section 402 A provides in part:

⁽¹⁾ One who sells any product in a defective condition unreasonably dangerous to the user or consumer or to his property is subject to liability for physical harm thereby caused to the ultimate user or consumer, or to his property....

<u>FPL</u> did not involve the destruction of a home by a latently defective product furnished by a non-privity supplier. Nor were there allegations in <u>FPL</u> of damage to property other than the product itself, or allegations of a hazardous condition. <u>FPL</u> does not stand for a change in the rule allowing tort recovery for damage to real property. Rather, this Court explicitly held the opposite:

-2

...we hold the economic loss rule approved in this opinion is not a new principle of law in Florida and has not changed or modified any decisions of this Court.

The district court thus misapplied <u>FPL</u> to avoid conflict with <u>Adobe</u>.⁷

II. THE DECISION CONFLICTS WITH <u>DREXEL PROPERTIES, INC.</u> <u>V. BAY COLONY CLUB CONDOMINIUM, INC.</u> IN THAT IT FAILS TO PROVIDE A TORT REMEDY TO CORRECT A HAZARDOUS CONDITION.

The present decision also directly conflicts with <u>Drexel</u>, 406 So.2d 515, which holds that a property owner may recover economic damages in tort, where defective construction creates a risk of personal injury, notwithstanding that no injury has yet occurred:

We hold that there can be recovery for economic loss. Why should a buyer have to wait for a personal tragedy to occur in order to recover damages to remedy or repair defects? In the final analysis, the cost to the developer for a resulting tragedy could be far greater than the cost of remedying the condition.

<u>Id.</u> at 519. Like <u>Adobe</u>, <u>Drexel</u> has never been overruled or criticized by this Court, nor has this Court addressed the issue of whether an actual injury must have occurred before a homeowner can sue in tort to correct a hazardous building condition. To the

SUITE 1102, 201 ALHAMBRA CIRCLE, PHONE (305) 442-3334 CORAL GABLES, FLORIDA 33134

⁷ The district court also grounded its decision upon <u>Aetna Life & Casualty Co. v. Therm-O-Disc. Inc.</u>, 511 So.2d 992 (Fla. 1987), which is equally inapplicable. Like <u>FPL</u>, <u>Aetna</u> involved the sale of goods, not the improvement of real property. The parties to that transaction were commercial entities, in privity with each other, having all remedies available to them in contract and under the Uniform Commercial Code. By contrast, the petitioners here were not in privity with Toppino and had no contract or UCC remedies against Toppino. All arguments concerning <u>FPL</u> pertain equally to <u>Aetna</u>.

contrary, <u>FPL</u> suggests that preventing injury is as much the policy behind tort law in Florida as compensating for it after the fact:

[A manufacturer] can appropriately be held liable for physical injuries caused by defects by requiring his goods to match a standard of safety defined in terms of <u>conditions that create unreasonable risks of harm</u>....A consumer should not be charged at the will of the manufacturer with bearing the risk of physical injury when he buys a product on the market.

510 So.2d at 900 (emphasis supplied). Courts in other jurisdictions have reached the same conclusion on similar facts.⁸

III. THE DECISION CONFLICTS WITH <u>A.R. MOYER, INC. V.</u> <u>GRAHAM</u> AND <u>LATITE ROOFING CO. V. URBANEK</u> IN THAT IT FAILS TO PROVIDE A REMEDY AGAINST THE WRONGDOER.

Finally, the present decision conflicts with <u>A.R. Moyer, Inc.</u> <u>v. Graham</u>, 285 So.2d 397 ("<u>Moyer</u>"), and <u>Latite Roofing Co., Inc. v.</u> <u>Urbanek</u>, 528 So.2d 1381 ("<u>Latite</u>"), which stand for the principle that:

...invocation of the rule precluding tort claims for only economic losses applies only when there are alternative theories of recovery better suited to compensate the damaged party for a peculiar kind of loss.

Latite, 528 So.2d at 1383. This Court read its decision in Moyer as allowing a contractor to recover against an architect with whom he was not in privity:

Since there was no contract under which the general contractor could recover his loss, we concluded he did have a cause of action in tort.

AFM Corp. v. Southern Bell Telephone and Telegraph Co., 515 So.2d 180, 181 (Fla. 1987). In Latite the Fourth District affirmed a

⁸ See, e.g., Philadelphia National Bank v. Dow Chemical Co., 605 F.Supp. 60 (E.D. Pa. 1985) (defective mortar damaged "other property", the brick panels and steel infrastructure of building, and presented very real risk of injury to persons by crumbling mortar and falling bricks); <u>Trustees of Columbia University v.</u> <u>Mitchell/Giurgola Associates</u>, 492 N.Y.S.2d 371 (A.D.1 Dept. 1985) (defective concrete panels and tiles caused damage to the curtain wall and were unduly dangerous to passersby); and <u>City of Manchester v.</u> <u>National Gypsum Co.</u>, 637 F.Supp. 646 (D.R.I. 1986) (asbestos in walls posed an imminent and serious health danger, made buildings unsafe, thereby damaging the buildings).

negligence claim for defective construction, where negligence appeared to be "[plaintiff] Urbanek's sole theory upon which recovery can be had against [defendant] Latite."⁹

In the present case the petitioners (unlike the plaintiff in <u>FPL</u>) were not in privity with Toppino and thus have no other remedy against Toppino for the damages suffered as a result of Toppino's defective concrete. The affirmance of the dismissal of petitioners' claims thus directly conflicts with <u>Moyer</u> and <u>Latite</u>.

IV. SETTLEMENT OF THE CONFLICTS CREATED BY THE DECISION IS OF GREAT IMPORTANCE TO THE PUBLIC.

The "real and embarrassing conflict[s] of opinion and authority" created by the decision below involve principles, "the settlement of which is of importance to the public." <u>Ansin v.</u> <u>Thurston</u>, 101 So.2d 808, 811 (Fla. 1958).

The effect of the present decision is to halt the trend in Florida law that has increasingly protected homeowners by assuring that they have remedies for damages from shoddy construction.¹⁰ The policy underlying the trend is expressed in <u>Simmons v. Owens</u>, 363 So.2d 142, 143 (Fla. 1st DCA 1978):

We must be realistic. The ordinary purchaser of a home is not qualified to determine when or where a defect exists. Yet, the purchaser makes the biggest and most important investment in his or her life and, more times than not, on a limited budget. The purchaser can ill

⁹ Latite Roofing Co., Inc. v. Urbanek, 528 So.2d at 1383; see also Interstate Securities Corp. v. Hayes Corp., 920 F.2d 769 (11th Cir. 1991); Interfase, Inc. v. Pioneer Technologies Group, 5 FLW Fed. D463 (M.D. Fla. Sept. 12, 1991); and Interfase, Inc. v. Pioneer Technologies Group, 5 FLW Fed. D525 (M.D. Fla. Sept. 27, 1991).

¹⁰ See, e.g., Gable v. Silver, 258 So.2d 11 (Fla. 4th DCA 1972), cert. discharged, 264 So.2d 418 (1972) (rejected caveat emptor and extended implied warranties to purchasers of new homes); David v. B & J Holding Corp., 349 So.2d 676, 678 (Fla. 3d DCA 1977) (Florida described as "a progressive state particularly in the area of condominium law with respect to protection of purchasers of such units."; Simmons v. Owens, 363 So.2d 142 (Fla. 1st DCA 1978) (recognized tort recovery where contractor's negligence caused damage to home); Johnson v. Davis, 480 So.2d 625 (Fla. 1985) (recognized cause of action for fraud against seller of home who fails to disclose latent defects).

afford to suddenly find a latent defect in his or her home that completely destroys the family's budget and have no remedy or recourse.

The present decision encroaches upon the special rights of homeowners by preventing recovery when, as in this case, a single defect completely destroys their homes.

The policy reason for approving the rules of <u>Adobe</u>, <u>Drexel</u> and <u>Latite</u> (and affirming <u>Moyer</u>) and for rejecting the decision in the present case, is simple justice: where the damage incurred is so flagrant, and the fault so clearly placed, the wrongdoer should not escape liability through an antiquated loophole like privity. The Supreme Court of South Carolina recently reached exactly that conclusion when it flatly rejected application of the economic loss rule in a homeowner's construction defect case, <u>Kennedy v. Columbia</u> <u>Lumber & Mfg. Co., Inc.</u>, 384 S.E.2d 730 (S.C. 1989). The <u>Kennedy</u> Court summarized what should be the policy in Florida, if it is not already:

While the Court of Appeals' reasoning in <u>Carolina</u> <u>Winds</u> appears to be a seamless web of proper legal analysis, the opinion reaches a result which is repugnant to the South Carolina policy of protecting the new home buyer. The result is that a builder who constructs defective housing escapes liability while a group of innocent new home purchasers are denied relief because of the imposition of traditional and technical legal distinctions.

<u>Id.</u> at 734-735.¹¹ Surely what is repugnant to South Carolina is not the law of Florida.

If the view of the Third District is allowed to continue as the law of that district, homeowners there will suffer a severe setback, and one part of Florida will be aligned with an isolated state, which does not allow homeowners recovery against non-privity

SIEGFRIED, KIPNIS, RIVERA, LERNER, DE LA TORRE & MOCARSKI, P.A., ATTORNEYS AT LAW

SUITE 1102, 201 ALHAMBRA CIRCLE, PHONE (305) 442-3334 CORAL GABLES, FLORIDA 33134

¹¹ The <u>Kennedy</u> court was rejecting the conclusions drawn in <u>Carolina Winds Owners' Association, Inc.</u> <u>v. Joe Harden Builder, Inc.</u>, 374 S.E.2d 897 (S.C.App. 1988), which, as in this case, ruled that the economic loss doctrine denied homeowner recovery.

CONCLUSION

We ask this Court to quash that portion of the district court's opinion which affirms dismissal of the tort counts, and to remand this case to the district court with directions to order the trial court to reinstate petitioners' claims.