\mathcal{C})15	FILED
SUPREME COUR	T OF FLORIDA	SDJ. WHITE
CASA CLARA CONDOMINIUM ASSOCIATION, INC., ETC., ET. AL.,		CLERK, SUPREME COURT By Chief Deputy Clerk
Petitioner,		
v.	CASE NO. 79,	127
CHARLEY TOPPINO & SONS, INC., ETC., ET. AL.,		ſ
Respondent.		
CHRISTOPHER H. CHAPIN, ET. AL.,		
Petitioner,		
v.	CASE NO. 79,	128
CHARLEY TOPPINO & SONS, INC., ETC., ET. AL.		
Respondent.		

RESPONDENTS' BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

Lynn E. Wagner, Esquire Florida Bar No. 144515 Richard A. Solomon, Esquire Florida Bar No. 656739 Cabaniss, Burke & Wagner, P.A. 800 N. Magnolia Ave., #1800 P.O. Box 2513 Orlando, FL 32802-2513 (407) 246-1800 Attorneys for Charley Toppino & Sons, Inc.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The Petitioners filed virtually identical complaints against the Respondent, Charley Toppino & Sons, Inc., a dissolved Florida corporation (hereafter "Toppino"), sounding in breach of the implied warranties of fitness and merchantability, negligence, strict liability, and violation of the Florida Building Codes Act, Sections 553.70-553.895, Florida Statutes (1987). The gravamen of their complaints was that concrete manufactured and supplied by Toppino and used in the construction of their structures allegedly contained excessive levels of chloride, which caused steel reinforcement bars imbedded in the concrete to corrode, and expand volumetrically. This, in turn, allegedly caused the concrete itself to crack and spall.

The complaints did not allege the concrete caused Petitioners actual physical injury or property damage other than to the concrete in their structures and the reinforcing steel imbedded therein. Rather, the complaints prayed for awards of purely economic damages consisting of the cost of repair or replacement of the structures and for the diminution in their value.

The complaints also alleged the Petitioners did not purchase the concrete used in construction of their structures from Toppino. Instead, they contracted with various developers, general contractors and/or design professionals for the purchase, design and/or construction of their completed structures. It was the general contractors that contracted with Toppino for the purchase of the concrete.

The trial court dismissed the breach of implied warranty counts of the complaints because Petitioners were not in privity of contract with Toppino, dismissed the negligence and strict liability counts pursuant to the economic loss doctrine, and dismissed the building code counts because, as material supplier only, Toppino was not under a duty to comply with state or local building codes.

The Third District Court of Appeal affirmed the trial court's orders, relying principally on this Court's decisions in Florida Power & Light Co. v. Westinghouse Electric Corp., 510 So.2d 899 (Fla. 1987) and Aetna Life & Casualty Co. v. Therm-O-Disc, Inc., 511 So.2d 992 (Fla. 1987), its own decisions in GAF Corp. v. Zack Co., 445 So.2d 350 (Fla. 3d DCA 1984), rev. den., 453 So.2d 45 (Fla. 1984) and Cedars of Lebanon Hospital Corp. v. European X-Ray Distributors of America, Inc., 444 So.2d 1068 (Fla. 3d DCA 1984) and the United States Supreme Court's decision in East River Steamship Corp. v. Transamerica Delaval, Inc., 476 U.S. 858, 106 S.Ct. 2295, 90 L.E.2d 864 (1986). See Casa Clara Condominium Association, Inc. v. Charley Toppino & Sons, Inc., 588 So.2d 631 (Fla. 3d DCA 1991). Thereafter, the Petitioners filed their petition requesting this Court review that part of the District Court of Appeal's decision affirming the trial court's dismissal of the negligence and strict liability counts of the complaints.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Third District Court of Appeal's holding that Petitioners cannot sue in tort for purely economic damages is in conformance

with this Court's decisions in Florida Power & Light and Aetna, the United States Supreme Court's decision in East River, (adopted by this Court in Florida Power & Light) and the Third District Court of Appeal's decisions in Belle Plaza Condominium Association v. B.C.E. Development, Inc., 543 So.2d 239 (Fla. 3d DCA 1989) rev. den., 551 So.2d 460, (Fla. 1989), GAF Corp., (adopted in Florida Power & Light and Aetna), and Cedars of Lebanon, (adopted in Florida Power & Light).

Contrary to Petitioners' contention, the Casa Clara decision does not expressly and directly conflict with the Fourth District Court of Appeal's decisions in Adobe Building Centers, Inc. v. Reynolds, 403 So.2d 1033 (Fla. 4th DCA 1981) and Drexel Properties, Inc. v. Bay Colony Club Condominium, Inc., 406 So.2d 515 (Fla. 4th DCA 1981). Both Adobe and Drexel were decided six years before this Court's decisions in Florida Power & Light and Aetna. To the extent those cases can be construed as allowing recovery in tort of purely economic damages, they are effectively overruled by this Court's more recent decisions in Florida Power & Light and Aetna and cannot serve as a basis for asserting an express and direct conflict with Casa Clara within the meaning of Article V, Section 3(b)(3), Florida Constitution or Rule 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv), Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure.

Nor does the Casa Clara decision, as Petitioners contend, expressly and directly conflict with either A.R. Moyer, Inc. v. Graham, 285 So.2d 397 (Fla. 1973) or Latite Roofing Co., Inc. v. Urbanek, 528 So.2d 1381 (Fla. 4th DCA 1988). Both Moyer and Latite

stand only for the proposition the economic loss doctrine does not apply: (1) in the services context; and (2) if the litigant has no alternative means to recover from any other party in the chain of construction. *Casa Clara* is not a services case, as the complaints alleged Toppino supplied a defective product. Moreover, unlike in *Moyer* and *Latite*, the Petitioners had alternative remedies against other parties with whom they were in privity. They had the ability to proceed in contract or under the Florida Building Codes Act, Section 553.70-553.895, Florida Statutes (1987),³ against their developer, general contractor or architect.

ARGUMENT

I. THE THIRD DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL'S DECISION IN CASA CLARA DOES NOT EXPRESSLY AND DIRECTLY CONFLICT WITH THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL'S DECISIONS IN ADOBE OR DREXEL BECAUSE BOTH ADOBE AND DREXEL WERE EFFECTIVELY OVERRULED BY SUBSEQUENT DECISIONS OF THIS COURT

The Third District Court of Appeal's decision in Casa Clara does not expressly and directly conflict with the Fourth District Court of Appeal's decisions in Adobe or Drexel because both were effectively overruled by this Court's decisions in Florida Power & Light and Aetna.

A. Adobe was Effectively Overruled by This Court's Decisions in Florida Power & Light and Aetna

In Adobe, a developer, general contractor and seller of residential structures sued a distributor of construction materials used to produce stucco, *inter alia*, in strict liability. The

³In fact, most of the Petitioners currently are litigating against the parties with whom they are in privity of contract for the sale, construction or design of their structures in the Sixteenth Judicial Circuit, In and For Monroe County, Florida.

plaintiffs had been compelled to repair the defective stucco pursuant to express warranties they had granted to the purchasers of the residences. 403 So.2d at 1033. The Fourth District Court of Appeal held the distributor could be sued in strict liability notwithstanding the fact the plaintiffs had sustained purely economic damages. *Id.* at 1034-35. *Adobe* was effectively overruled by this Court's subsequent decisions in *Florida Power & Light* and *Aetna*, however, which hold precisely the opposite, and cannot serve as a basis for establishing a direct and express conflict with *Casa Clara*.⁴

It follows that Adobe does not expressly and directly conflict with Casa Clara within the meaning of Article V, Section 3(b)(3), Florida Constitution or Rule 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv), Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure.

B. Drexel also was Effectively Overruled by This Court's Decisions in Florida Power & Light and Aetna

In Drexel, a class of condominium unit owners sued a developer for breach of implied warranty and in negligence to recover purely economic damages to the common elements of the condominium structures. 406 So.2d at 516. The Fourth District Court of Appeal

⁴Even if the defective stucco in Adobe caused damage to other components of the structures in question as Petitioners contend, this Court in Aetna and the United States Supreme Court in East River unequivocally concluded that damage caused by one component of an assembled product to other components thereof or to the assembled product itself does not constitute damage to "other property" within the meaning of the economic loss doctrine. Aetna, 511 So.2d at 994; East River, 476 U.S. at 867-868. Since Petitioners allege only that the allegedly defective concrete damaged other components of their structures or the structure themselves, the Petitioners' complaints do not fall within the "other property" exception to the economic loss doctrine. Id.

held the unit owners could recover such losses in negligence notwithstanding the fact they had sustained neither actual personal injury or damage to property other than the structures. *Id.* at 519. Thus, *Drexel* was effectively overruled by this Court's decisions in *Florida Power & Light* and *Aetna*, and cannot serve as a basis for establishing an express and direct conflict with *Casa Clara*.

Similarly without merit is Petitioners' reliance on Drexel for the proposition that purely economic losses may be recovered in tort where a risk of personal injury, as opposed to actual personal injury, is present. See Petitioners' Brief on jurisdiction at page 6-7. Petitioners concede they have not sustained actual personal injury. This concession is fatal because the United State Supreme Court in East River, adopted by this Court in Florida Power & Light, 510 So.2d at 900-902, unequivocally held risk of personal injury, as opposed to actual personal injury, is insufficient to remove a case from the economic loss doctrine. 476 U.S. at 870. It follows that under this Court's review of the economic loss doctrine mere risk of personal injury does not defeat application of the economic loss doctrine. Id. See also Aetna, 511 So.2d at 994; American Universal Insurance Group v. General Motors Corp., 578 So.2d 451 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991); GAF Corp., 445 So.2d at 351-352; Cedars of Lebanon, 444 So.2d at 1071, all of which establish actual personal injury is necessary to defeat application of the economic

loss doctrine.⁵ In short, *Drexel*, like *Adobe*, does not expressly and directly conflict with *Casa Clara* because it no longer is good law after *Florida Power & Light* and *Aetna* within the meaning of Article V, Section 3(b)(3), Florida Constitution or Rule 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv), Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure.

II. THE THIRD DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL'S DECISION IN CASA CLARA DOES NOT EXPRESSLY AND DIRECTLY CONFLICT WITH THIS COURT'S DECISION IN A.R. MOYER, INC. V. GRAHAM OR THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL'S DECISION IN LATITE ROOFING CO. V. URBANEK

Neither this Court's decision in A.R. Moyer, Inc. v. Graham, 285 So.2d 397 (Fla. 1973) nor the Fourth District Court of Appeal's decision in Latite Roofing Co., Inc. v. Urbanek, 528 So.2d 1381 (Fla. 4th DCA 1988) expressly and directly conflict with the Third District Court of Appeal's decision in Casa Clara.

A. Casa Clara Does Not Conflict With Moyer

In Moyer, decided 14 years before this Court's adoption of the economic loss doctrine in *Florida Power & Light*, a general contractor sued a supervisory architect, *inter alia*, in negligence to recover damages the general contractor allegedly incurred as a result of the supervising architect's negligent performance of its

⁵Petitioners' attempt to seek solace from this Court's reliance in *Florida Power & Light* on Justice Traynor's reasoning in *Seely v. White Motor Co.*, 63 Cal.2d 9, 45 Cal.Rptr. 17, 43 P.2d 145 (1965) is misplaced as even under Justice Traynor's analysis, a manufacturer's liability, if any, is "limited to damages for physical injuries and there is no recovery for economic loss alone". 510 So.2d at 901. Thus, even under Justice Traynor's analysis, actual injury, as opposed to risk of injury, is necessary to defeat application of the economic loss doctrine. *Aetna*, 511 So.2d at 994; *Florida Power & Light*, 510 So.2d at 900-902; *East River*, 476 U.S. at 868-871; *GAF Corp.*, 445 So.2d at 351-352; *Cedars of Lebanon*, 444 So.2d at 1070-1071.

supervisory responsibilities. 285 So.2d at 398-399. In concluding the general contractor could sue the supervisory architect in negligence, notwithstanding the lack of privity between the parties, this Court reasoned:

Considerations of reason and policy impel the conclusion that the position and authority of a supervising architect are such that he ought to labor under a duty to the prime contractor to supervise the project with due care under the circumstances, even though his sole contractual relationship is with the owner . . . The power of the architect to stop the work alone is tantamount to a power of economic life or death over the contractor.

Id. at 401.

Subsequently, this Court reconciled Moyer with Florida Power & Light in AFM Corp. v. Southern Bell Telephone & Telegraph Co., 515 So.2d 180, 181 (Fla. 1987). In limiting Moyer to its unique facts, this Court concluded:

In [Moyer], we did approve a recovery for economic losses where there was no personal injury or property damage upon a negligent tort theory. What distinguishes Moyer from the above cases, however, is that the plaintiff was not the beneficiary, either directly or as a third-party beneficiary, of the underlying contract. . . . We based fact that the supervisory on our decision the responsibilities vested in the architect carried with it a concurrent duty not to injure foreseeable parties not beneficiaries of the contract. . . . Since there was no contract under which the general contractor could recover his loss, we concluded he did have a cause of action in tort.

AFM, 515 So.2d at 181. See also McElvy, Jennewein, Stefany, Howard, Inc. v. Arlington Electric, Inc., 582 So.2d 47 (Fla. 2d DCA 1991) (Moyer is limited to its unique facts).

Unlike the general contractor in *Moyer*, Petitioners had viable causes of action in contract and under the Florida Building Codes Act against their developers, general contractors and design professionals to recover their alleged economic losses. Thus, Casa Clara does not expressly and directly conflict with Moyer within the meaning of Article V, Section 3(b)(3), Florida Constitution and Rule 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv), Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure.

B. Casa Clara Does Not Conflict with Latite

In Latite, the plaintiffs purchased a shopping center after the roof had been installed but while construction was only partially completed. 528 So.2d at 1382. Thereafter, they sued the roofing contractor with whom they were not in privity (it had contracted with the previous owner) in negligence to recover purely economic damages. *Id*.

The Fourth District Court of Appeal, relying on Moyer, concluded the plaintiffs' negligence action against the roofing contractor was not barred by the economic loss doctrine because they had no alternative means to recover their economic losses from anyone else, noting:

[I]nvocation of the rule precluding tort claims for only economic losses applies only when there are alternative theories of recovery better suited to compensate the damaged party for a particular kind of loss.

Latite, 528 So.2d at 1383.

Latite, like Moyer, stands only for the proposition that a plaintiff may sue in tort to recover purely economic damages in the unusual circumstances where it has no alternative means to recover such losses from anyone else. The Petitioners, however, had viable causes of action in contract and under the Florida Building Codes

Act against their developers, general contractors or design professionals.

In view of the alternative theories of recovery available to Petitioners, *Casa Clara* does not expressly and directly conflict with *Latite* within the meaning of Article V, Section 3(b)(3), Florida Constitution, or Rule 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv), Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure.

CONCLUSION

Since the Casa Clara decision does not expressly and directly conflict with Adobe, Drexel, Moyer or Latite, this Court lacks jurisdiction to hear Petitioners' appeal under Article V, Section 3(b)(3), Florida Constitution and Rule 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv), Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure. For this reason, their petition for review should be denied.

Lynn E. Wagner, Esquire Florida Bar No. 144515 Richard A. Solomon, Esquire Florida Bar No. 656739 Cabaniss, Burke & Wagner, P.A. P.O. Box 2513 Orlando, FL 32802-2513 (407) 246-1800